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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

STEVEN LAVALLEE,
Individually and On Behalf of
All Others Similarly Situated,

Plaintiff,

V.
DERMALOGICA, LLC and
CONOPCO, INC. d/b/a
UNILEVER,

Defendants.

Case No.:
CLASS ACTION SEEKING

STATEWIDE RELIEF

COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATIONS
OF:

1) CALIFORNIA CONSUMER
LEGAL REMEDIES ACT
(“CLRA”), CAL. CIV. CODE §§
1750, ET SEQ.;

2) CALIFORNIA’S UNFAIR
COMPETITION LAW (“UCL”),
CAL. BUS. & PROF. CODE §§
17200, ET SEQ.;

3) VIOLATIONS OF
CALIFORNIA’S FALSE
ADVERTISING LAW (“FAL”),
CAL. BUS. & PROF. CODE §§
17500, ET SEQ.;

4) BREACH OF EXPRESS
WARRANTY

5) UNJUST ENRICHMENT;

6) NEGLIGENT
MISREPRESENTATION; AND,

7) INTENTIONAL
MISREPRESENTATION.

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
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INTRODUCTION
1. Plaintiff Steven Lavallee (“Plaintiff”), individually and on behalf of all others
similarly situated, brings this Class Action Complaint for damages, injunctive relief,
and any other available legal or equitable remedies, resulting from the illegal actions
of defendants Dermalogica, LLC and Conopco, Inc. d/b/a Unilever (“Unilever”)
(collectively “Dermalogica” or “Defendant”) concerning unlawful labeling of
Defendant’s cosmetic products, with the designation and representation that the
products are/were made and/or manufactured in the USA without clear and adequate
qualification of the foreign ingredients and components contained therein, as
required by federal rules and California laws.
2. The unlawfully represented products are sold through various channels,
including, but not limited to third-party merchants operating in brick-and-mortar
stores like Sephora, Nordstrom and Ulta.
3. Plaintiff alleges as follows upon personal knowledge as to himself and his
own acts and experiences, and as to all other matters, upon information and belief,
including investigation conducted by his attorneys.
4. As stated by the California Supreme Court in Kwikset v. Superior Court, 51
Cal. 4th 310, 328-29 (2011):

Simply stated: labels matter. The marketing industry is
based on the premise that labels matter, that consumers
will choose one product over another similar product
based on its label and various tangible and intangible
qualities that may come to associate with a particular
source. . .In particular . . . the ‘Made in U.S.A.’ label
matters. A range of motivations may fuel this preference,
from desire to support domestic jobs or labor conditions,
to simply patriotism. The Legislature has recognized the
materiality of this representation by specifically outlawing
deceptive and fraudulent ‘Made in  America’
representations. (Cal. Bus & Prof. Code section 17533.7;
see also Cal. Civ. Code § 1770, subd. (a)(4) (prohibiting
deceptive representations. Of geographic origin)). The

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 1
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objective of section 17533.7 ‘is to protect consumers from

being misled when they purchase products in the belief

that they are advancing the interest of the United States

and the industries and workers. . .” (emphasis added).
5. Dermalogica’s products are labeled with the express, unqualified
representation that they are “Made in the USA.” This claim appears on nearly every
product manufactured, sold, or distributed by the Defendant, including the products
purchased by the Plaintiff.
6. Contrary to Defendant’s express representations and its failure to clearly and

adequately qualify those representations, the products purchased by Plaintiff are
substantially and materially composed of indispensable foreign ingredients.

7. Plaintiff purchased several of Dermalogica’s best known products: (1) Clear
Start Post Breakout Fix; (2) Active Clay Cleanser (5.1 ounce); (3) Daily Glycolic
Cleanser (5.1 ounce); (4) Special Cleansing Gel (1.7 ounce); (5) Intensive Moisture
Balance; and (6) Special Cleansing Gel (8.4 ounce) (the “Product(s)”), which are
labeled, marketed and sold to consumers as “Made in the USA,” as further discussed
herein.

8. However, the Products are made with numerous ingredients and components,
that are not grown, sourced or otherwise made in the United States.

0. Defendant’s conduct of advertising and selling deceptively labeled products
bearing the representation that such products are “Made in the USA” violates: (1)
California’s Consumer Legal Remedies Act (“CLRA™), Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1750, et
seq.; (2) California’s Unfair Competition Law (“UCL”), Bus. & Prof. Code §§
17200, et seq.; (3) California’s False Advertising Law (“FAL”), Bus. & Prof. Code
§ 17500, et seq.; and constitutes (4) breach of express warranty; (5) unjust
enrichment; (6) negligent misrepresentation; and (7) intentional misrepresentation.
This conduct also amounts to a violation of 16 C.F.R. § 323 (Federal Trade
Commission 2021) (the “MUSA Rule”).

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 2
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10.  This conduct caused Plaintiff, and other similarly situated, damages, and
requires restitution and injunctive relief to remedy and prevent future harm.
11. In addition to the unqualified “Made in the USA” representation on the
Products, Dermalogica’s other products— including, but not limited to, those
featured on its website! [and in Exhibit A filed herewith] (together with the
Products, the “Class Products”)—also display the same unqualified “Made in the
USA” representation or a similar unqualified U.S. origin claim.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
12.  This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to the Class
Action Fairness Act (CAFA), 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d), because: (1) minimal diversity
exists—Plaintiff is a citizen of California, Defendant Dermalogica, LLC is a
California limited liability company with its principal place of business in California,
and Defendant Conopco, Inc. is a New York corporation with its principal place of
business in New Jersey; (2) the amount in controversy exceeds $5,000,000,
exclusive of interest and costs; and (3) the proposed Class consists of more than 100
members.
13.  Venue is proper in the United States District Court for the Central District of
California pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 for the following reasons: (i) Plaintiff
resides in the Orange County, California, which is within this judicial district; (i1)
the conduct complained of herein occurred within this judicial district; and (iii)
Defendant conducted business within this judicial district at all relevant times.

PARTIES

14.  Plaintiff is, and at all times mentioned herein was, a natural person, an
individual citizen and resident of the County of Orange, State of California.
15. Defendant Dermalogica, LLC is a limited liability company that is organized

and exists under the laws of the State of California, with a principal place of business

! See https://www.dermalogica.com/collections/all (last visited May 12, 2025).

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 3
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within the State of California located at 1535 Beachy Place, Carson, California
90746.2

16. Defendant Conopco, Inc. d/b/a Unilever is a corporation that is organized and
exists under the laws of the State of New York with a principal place of business in
the State of New Jersey at 111 River Street, 8th Floor, Hoboken, New Jersey 07030.3
17.  Plaintiff alleges that at all times relevant herein Defendant conducted business
within the State of California, in the County of Orange, and within this district.

18.  Unless otherwise indicated, the use of Defendant’s names in this Complaint
includes all agents, employees, officers, members, directors, heirs, successors,
assigns, principals, trustees, sureties, subrogees, representatives, and insurers of the

Defendant, respectively.

NATURE OF THE CASE
19. Founded in 1986, Dermalogica has grown to become one of the largest and
most recognized premium skincare companies in the United States. By 2014,
Dermalogica had reached $240 million in annual sales.*
20. In 2015, following its significant commercial success, Dermalogica, LLC
was acquired by Unilever—one of the largest consumer goods companies in the
world.
21.  Unilever is one of the largest consumer goods companies in the world, with
a diverse portfolio of more than 400 brands spanning personal care, nutrition, home
care, and ice cream. In 2023, Unilever reported annual revenues of approximately
$64 billion, placing it among the top global consumer goods firms. This figure
exceeds the gross domestic product of more than half of the world’s countries,
underscoring the company’s substantial economic footprint, operational

sophistication, and access to vast resources.

2 According to the California Secretary of State’s website.

31d.

4 See https://cosmeticsbusiness.com/unilever-buys-dermalogica-in-skin-care-portfolio-boost--
109673 (last visited May 12, 2025).

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 4
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22.  Given Dermalogica’s long-standing presence in the consumer products
industry, its access to extensive resources, and its operation as a subsidiary of
Unilever—one of the world’s largest and most sophisticated consumer goods
companies—it is difficult to comprehend how Dermalogica and Unilever could so
blatantly disregard well-established laws, rules, and regulations governing the
labeling, marketing, and sale of skincare products bearing unqualified “Made in the
USA” claims. These requirements are well known in the industry and should have
been fully understood and followed by companies of this size and experience.

23. Dermalogica sells the Class Products through numerous brick-and-mortar
retailers, including but not limited to Ulta, Sephora, and Nordstrom, as well as
through the websites of these retailers and other online platforms.

24. At all relevant times, Defendant made and continues to make material
misrepresentations regarding the Class Products.

25. Specifically, Defendant advertised, marketed, promoted, and sold the Class
Products as “Made in the USA” without disclosing the use of foreign ingredients,
when in fact this claim was false.

26. Although Defendant represented on its labels and packaging that the Class
Products were “Made in the USA” without qualification, the products are wholly or
substantially made with ingredients and components sourced, grown, or
manufactured outside the United States.

27. Each consumer, including Plaintiff, was exposed to the same material
misrepresentations, as substantially similar labels and packaging were placed on all
Class Products sold—and currently sold—throughout the United States, including
from physical retail stores within California.

28. Federal rules and regulations regarding the use of “Made in the United
States” claims— including any synonymous claims, whether express or implied—
are well-established and clearly defined with respect to products and services.

29.  Specifically, the MUSA Rule clearly defines the meaning of “Made in the

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 5
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United States,” including synonymous phrases,’ as well as when it can be used
without clear and adequate qualification notifying consumers that the good or
service in question contains or is made with ingredients or components that are not
made or sourced in the United States.®

30. Asaconsequence of Defendant’s unfair and deceptive practices, Plaintiff and
other similarly situated consumers purchased the Class Products under the false
impression and in reliance upon Defendant’s representations that the Class Products
were actually made in the United States with ingredients and components sourced
from within the United States.

31.  As aresult, Plaintiff and other similarly situated consumers overpaid for the
Class Products, purchased the Class Products over the products of competitors,
and/or purchased the Class Products under the belief that the product they purchased
was made in the United States and did not contain numerous ingredients and
components from outside the United States.

32. Despite the clearly established and well-defined federal rules regarding
“Made in the United States” claims, Defendant falsely, unfairly and deceptively
advertised, marketed and sold its products, including the Products purchased by
Plaintiff, as “Made in the USA” without clear and adequate qualification informing

consumers of the presence of foreign ingredients and/or components as further

> See 16 C.F.R. § 323.1(a) (“The term Made in the United States means any unqualified
representation, express or implied, that a product or service, or a specified component thereof, is
of U.S. origin, including, but not limited to, a representation that such product or service is ‘made,’
‘manufactured,” ‘built,” ‘produced,’ ‘created,’ or ‘crafted’ in the United States or in America, or
any other unqualified U.S.-origin claim.”) (emphasis added).

6 See 16 C.F.R. § 323.2 Prohibited Acts (“In connection with promoting or offering for sale any
good or service, in or affecting commerce as ‘commerce’ is defined in section 4 of the Federal
Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. 44, it is an unfair or deceptive act or practice within the
meaning of section 5(a)(1) of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. 45(a)(1), to label any
product as Made in the United States unless the final assembly or processing of the product occurs
in the United States, all significant processing that goes into the product occurs in the United
States, and all or virtually all ingredients or components of the product are made and sourced in
the United States. (emphasis added).

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 6
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discussed herein.
33. Had Plaintiff and other similarly situated consumers been made aware that
the Class Products contained a substantial amount of ingredients sourced from
outside of the United States, they would not have purchased the Class Products.
34. Asaresult of Defendant’s false, unfair, and deceptive statements and/or their
failure to disclose the true nature of the Class Products, along with the other conduct
described herein, Plaintiff and similarly situated consumers purchased hundreds of
thousands of units of the Class Products from physical retail stores in California,
and have suffered and continue to suffer harm, including the loss of money and/or
property.
35. Defendant’s conduct, as alleged herein, violates several California laws, as
detailed below.
36. This action seeks, among other things, equitable and injunctive relief, public
injunctive relief, restitution of all amounts unlawfully retained by Defendant, and
disgorgement of all ill-gotten profits resulting from Defendant’s alleged
wrongdoing.
37. Unless enjoined, Defendant's unfair, deceptive and unlawful conduct will
continue into the future, and Plaintiff and members of the Class will continue to
suffer harm.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS
38.  Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs of
this Class Action Complaint as if fully stated herein.
39. Defendant produces, markets, and advertises various products, including the
Products purchased by Plaintiff, as “Made in the USA,” without clear or adequate
qualification.
40. Importantly, neither federal nor state law in the United States requires the use
of the phrase “Made in the USA” or any synonymous representation on the type of

products sold by Defendant. In other words, such representations are entirely

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 7
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voluntary and serve marketing or product positioning purposes, rather than
fulfilling any regulatory or legal requirement.

41. However, when a company such as Defendant elects to use such
representations, their use is governed by the applicable laws and regulations set
forth herein.

42. Regardless of where or how Defendant displayed or promoted its unqualified
“Made in the USA” representations, such claims violate the MUSA Rule, as
described above. In the case of the Class Products, the misrepresentation is
particularly egregious because the claim appears prominently on the product
packaging and, consequently, is reproduced in marketing materials—including
those used by third-party retailers—demonstrating the central role this
representation was intended to play in influencing consumer purchasing decisions.
The impact of this deception is further heightened by the fact that the Class Products
are marketed and sold as premium skincare items, for which consumers reasonably
expect a higher standard of quality, transparency, and compliance.

43.  For the Class Products, Defendant’s unqualified “Made in the USA” claim
appears both on the exterior packaging and directly on the product labels. The claim
1s set apart from other text and, in some instances, is visually highlighted with a
contrasting background color, enhancing its prominence and visibility to
consumers. Because this representation appears on the product packaging, it is also
prominently featured—or repeated in substantially similar form—in the marketing
and advertising of the Class Products, including on third-party reseller websites.
44. Set forth below are non-exhaustive examples of the aforementioned
unqualified “Made in the USA” representations as they appear on the packaging,

labeling, and marketing materials for the Class Products:’

7 See https://www.nordstrom.com/s/active-moist-oil-free-moisturizer/78376872origin=category-
personalizedsort&breadcrumb=Home%2FBrands%2Fdermalogica®&color=000 or
https://shorturl.at/2ZmVs (last visited May 12, 2025).

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 8
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https://www.nordstrom.com/s/skinperfect-spf-30-primer/3922717?origin=category-
personalizedsort&breadcrumb=Home%2FBrands%2Fdermalogica®&color=000 or
https://shorturl.at/TM;j2K (last visited May 12, 2025).

https://www.nordstrom.com/s/powerbright-dark-spot-system-set-178-
value/7804330?origin=category-
personalizedsort&breadcrumb=Home%2FBrands%2Fdermalogica®&color=000 or
https://shorturl.at/RRsOA (last visited May 12, 2025).

https://www.dermstore.com/c/brands/dermalogica/.
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Hyaluronic acid
&# Good for: Redness

&0 Good for: Oily skin & large pores

Details & care

What it is: This lightweight moisturizer provides effective, oil-free
hydration without a greasy feel.

Who it's for: All skin types.

What it does: It helps to smoothe and improve skin texture. The
sheer, easy-to-apply formula goes on quickly and contains silk amino
acids and a combination of plant extracts that help improve skin
texture and combat surface dehydration. Natural botanical
astringents of lemon, cucumber and burdock help to refine the skin.

How to use: Apply over damp face and throat with light, upward
strokes.

® 340z

o Artificial fragrance-free; artificial color-free
® Made in the USA

o Item #10346094

3 Active Moist Oil-Free Moisturizer
4 e $77.00 B AddtoBag
=~ ermalogica'
Highlights &5 Gift options

Choose your gift options at Checkout. Some items may not be
eligible for all gift options

Delivery

Email gift message (free)
& Printed gift message (free)
& Fabric gift bag ($5)

B DIY Nordstrom gift box ($5)

Need help finding the perfect gift? We've got you covered.

Shop Gifts

dermalogica®

Built on the principle that one should always prioritize skin health
over beauty, this no-nonsense skin care line was developed in 1986
by expert educator and skin therapist Jane Wurwand. Always opting
for efficacy over luxury and science over pampering, dermalogica
offers cutting-edge skin care optimized to treat the underlying
causes of common skin issues instead of simply covering them up.

eoe [+ <

10

Skinperfect SPF 30 Primer

| dermalogica®

nordstrom.com ¢ @ [I] +

$59.00 8 AddtoBag

Hyaluronic acid

{V} Best for: Normal skin

Details & care

What it is: A primer with SPF 30 that helps to smooth fine lines and
brighten and prepare your skin for makeup application.

What it does: This velvety primer helps support skin firmness as
broad-spectrum sunscreen helps shield skin against sun damage
triggered by UV light. Wear alone over your moisturizer or before
foundation to help decrease the appearance of fine lines for a
lasting makeup finish.

How to use: After applying moisturizer, smooth and blend over your
entire face and throat. It can be worn alone or underneath makeup

to extend wear.

0.75 oz.
Artificial color-free; artificial fragrance-free

Cruelty-free
Made in the USA
Forest Stewardship Council® (FSC)-certified, ensuring forest

management that preserves biological diversity and benefits
the lives of local people and workers
Item #1020487

eligible for all gift options

Free Pickup
B Printed gift message (free)

& Nordstrom gift box (free)
B Fabric gift bag ($5)
Signature gift wrap ($5)
Delivery

B Email gift message (free)
B Printed gift message (free)
& Fabric gift bag ($5)

B DIY Nordstrom gift box ($5)

Need help finding the perfect gift? We've got you covered.

Shop Gifts

dermalogica®

Built on the principle that one should always prioritize skin health
over beauty, this no-nonsense skin care line was developed in 1986
by expert educator and skin therapist Jane Wurwand. Always opting
for efficacy over luxury and science over pampering, dermalogica
offers cutting-edge skin care optimized to treat the underlying

causes of common skin issues instead of simply covering them up.
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PowerBright Dark Spot System Set $178 Value

dermalogica®
&# Good for: Dark spots

4’# Good for: Large pores

Details & care

What it is: A powerful dark spot-fighting duo that helps lift away the
appearance of dark spots and keep hyperpigmentation at bay.

Set includes:

- PowerBright Dark Spot Peel (1 0z.): helps visible lift surface
pigmentation in a wide range of skin tones and types, including
melanin-rich and hyperpigmentation-prone skin

- PowerBright Dark Spot Serum (1 0z.): a serum that helps fade dark
spots within days. It begins to diminish the appearance of uneven
pigmentation after one use and continues working over time with
potent niacinamide and hexylresorcinol to help fade dark spots

How to use: Each morning after cleansing and toning, apply one
pump of PowerBright Dark Spot Serum every morning. Allow one
minute for product absorption. Follow with preferred moisturizer.
Use PowerBright Dark Spot Peel nightly for 15 minutes, as directed.
Follow with preferred serum and moisturizer.

e $178 Value

® Made in the USA h

e ltem #10313958

nordstrom.com ] @ fb +

$142.00 B AddtoBag

T g e

Free Pickup
B Printed gift message (free)

& Nordstrom gift box (free)
B Fabric gift bag ($5)
Signature gift wrap ($5)
Delivery

B Email gift message (free)
B Printed gift message (free)
B Fabric gift bag ($5)

B DIY Nordstrom gift box ($5)

Need help finding the perfect gift? We've got you covered.

Shop Gifts

dermalogica®

Built on the principle that one should always prioritize skin health
over beauty, this no-nonsense skin care line was developed in 1986
by expert educator and skin therapist Jane Wurwand. Always opting
for efficacy over luxury and science over pampering, dermalogica
offers cutting-edge skin care optimized to treat the underlying

causes of common skin issues instead of simply covering them up.

®
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BRANDS BY CATEGORY BESTSELLERS SUNSCREEN

H dermalog

|
\N..
&

Dermalogica Daily Microfoliant
Travel Size (0.45 0z.)

ok k kA 64reviews
$19.00
13G 74g 74g Refill

fl.oz.)

$59.00

than 80 countries worldwide

D DERMSTORE &

Dermalogica Calm Water Gel (1.7

dermstore.com ©

TEXT AN EXPERT

SALE & OFFERS

EXCLUSIVES DISCOVER NEW BLOG

L—

Dermalogica Multi-Active Toner Dermalogica Antioxidant

(8.40z.) Hydramist Travel Size (1fl. oz.)
Yk kkh 93 reviews Yk k Kk 7reviews
$45.00 $14.50
250ml

QUICK BUY QUICK BUY QUICK BUY QUICK BUY

Pagelof4 >

Dermalogica is a professional-grade skin care brand founded by a skin therapist, so they know how to create skin care solutions that work. Their mission has always
been the same: develop innovative products and services that actively improve skin health. Based in Los Angeles, their products argfmade in the USAfand sold in more

45.

This representation is prominently displayed in the same location on the label

and packaging of nearly every Class Product or, in some cases, in another
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conspicuous location on the product’s exterior packaging.

46. As aresult of the “Made in the USA” representations on the Class Products
packaging and in their advertising, online retailers have further propagated this
misrepresentation through their websites’ product pictures and descriptions, in
addition to continuing to sell the Class Products with unqualified “Made in the
USA” misrepresentations on their shelves, where applicable.?®

47.  Upon information and belief, Defendant at one point represented its products
as being “Made in Southern California” in the customer-facing FAQ section of its
website. An example of this representation is currently accessible through
Defendant’s Zendesk archives, further evidencing the deliberate and public nature
of Defendant’s unqualified origin claims.® An example of this representation, as it

appeared in Defendant’s customer support system, is shown below:

o e M v = dermalogica4671.zendesk.com ¢ ©] \ﬁ +
del"malogica Submit a request
Dermalogica > Frequently Asked Questions > Our products O\

friclesintiissecton  Where are Dermalogica products made?

How soon will | start
seeing results from
using Dermalogica
products?

3 years ago -+ Updated

What are the long- We are proud to make all our products in Southern California: Having our

term benefits of using manufacturing facilities so close to our headquarters allows us to maintain a superior
Dermalogica quality standard and level of oversight, and also support the local economy. Made in
products? Southern California, Dermalogica is sold in over 80 countries around the world.

Why do | need a
professional skin

therapist?
Was this article helpful?

Dermalogica products
made?

4 out of 4 found this helpful

48. As a result of the unqualified U.S. origin claims on the Class Products’

8 For illustrative examples of Defendant’s “Made in the USA” (or similar) claims appearing on
third party retailers website sales pages, see q 44, supra.

9  See  https://dermalogica4671.zendesk.com/hc/en-gb/articles/4410027591313-Where-are-
Dermalogica-products-made
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packaging and labels, consumers, and even retailers, have been misled for years,
leading to both initial and repeat purchases of products they believed were made in
the United States with ingredients and components sourced from the United States.
49. Despite the clear and unqualified claim that the Class Products were “Made
in the USA,” they are substantially made with foreign ingredients, a fact that is not
properly disclosed on the label or packaging, as required by the MUSA Rule and
California law.

50. For example, the Clear Start Post Breakout Fix product purchased by the

t,1 along with other

Plaintiff contains foreign Ceratonia siliqua (carob) fruit extrac
ingredients and components that are not sourced from the United States. Despite
this, its marketing and packaging claimed it was “Made in the USA” without clear
and adequate qualification.

51. Dermalogica’s Active Clay Cleanser, purchased by Plaintiff, contains
numerous foreign-sourced ingredients, including coconut acid, !! Binchotan
charcoal,'? Astrocaryum murumuru,'® and Melaleuca alternifolia'* (tea tree) leaf
oil. Despite this, the product’s marketing and packaging prominently declare “Made
in the USA” without qualification. Upon information and belief, the product also

includes additional ingredients and components not sourced from the United States.

52.  Another product purchased by Plaintiff, Daily Glycolic Cleanser, contains

10 See https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QCL/visualize (Select Item: Locust beans (carob).
According to the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, carob is not produced
in commercial quantities in the United States).

1 See https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QCL/visualize (Select Item: Coconuts. According to
the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, coconuts are not produced in
commercial quantities in the United States).

12 See https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Binchotan (Binchotan charcoal is sourced from Japan.).

13 See https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Astrocaryum murumuru (“The murumuru palm trees grow
in Brazil and around the Amazon and are one of the dominant trees in this region.”).

14 See https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Melaleuca_alternifolia (“Endemic to Australia, it occurs in
southeast Queensland and the north coast and adjacent ranges of New South Wales where it grows
along streams and on swampy flats, and is often the dominant species where it occurs.”) (emphasis
added).
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foreign-sourced ingredients, including Simmondsia chinensis' (jojoba) seed oil,
hydrogenated palm!® glycerides, and coconut acid. Similarly, the Special Cleansing
Gel purchased by Plaintiff includes Quillaja saponaria’” bark extract and Citrus
aurantium bergamia '® (bergamot) fruit oil, both of which are also sourced
internationally. Despite the inclusion of these foreign ingredients, among others,
both products are labeled and marketed as “Made in the USA” without qualification.
53.  Dermalogica’s Daily Microfoliant Exfoliator contains foreign-sourced
ingredients, including Camellia sinensis '° (tea) leaf extract, and Melaleuca
alternifolia (tea tree) leaf oil. These, along with other ingredients and components
used in the product’s formulation, are not sourced from the United States.
Nevertheless, the product is labeled and sold with the unqualified claim “Made in
the USA.”

54. Upon information and belief, the Class Products also contain additional
ingredients and components that are not sourced from the United States.

55. Some of the ingredients, components, and even packaging used by Defendant
may be sourced either domestically or internationally—information known

exclusively to Defendant at this time. As such, Plaintiff cannot presently allege the

15 See https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QCL/visualize (Select Item: Jojoba seeds. According
to the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, jojoba is not produced in
commercial quantities in the United States).

16 See https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QCL/visualize (Select Item: Palm oil. According to
the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, palm oil is not produced in
commercial quantities in the United States).

17 See Fernando Guerra & Sebastian Sepulveda, Saponin Production from Quillaja Genus
Species: An Insight into Its Applications and Biology. 5 SCI. AGRIC. 78 (2021) (“Quillaja genus
(Quillajaceae family) is endemic to South America, where is represented by two species, Quillaja
saponaria and Quillaja brasiliensis.””) (emphasis added).

18 See Giuffré, Angelo Maria, Bergamot (Citrus bergamia, Risso): The Effects of Cultivar and
Harvest Date on Functional Properties of Juice and Cloudy Juice. § ANTIOXIDANTS 221 (2019)
(“Bergamot (Citrus bergamia, Risso) is an evergreen tree almost exclusively grown on the Ionian
and Tyrrhenian Coast of Reggio Calabria Province (South Italy), in a strip of land 1-12 km
wide.”).

19 See https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QCL/visualize (Select Item: Tea leaves. According to
the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, tea is not produced in commercial
quantities in the United States).
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full extent of Defendant’s unqualified “Made in the USA” violations without the
benefit of discovery. Nevertheless, Defendant’s blatant and willful disregard for the
applicable laws is already evident from the foregoing non-exhaustive examples.
56.  Upon information and belief, Defendant also marketed and promoted its
unqualified “Made in the USA” claims across a wide range of channels beyond
product packaging and retail listings. These include, but are not limited to, social
media platforms, digital advertising, blog posts, email campaigns, professional
training sessions for licensed skincare professionals, business-to-business
marketing materials directed at distributors and retail partners, trade shows, and
other customer-facing communications. The full scope and content of these
representations are uniquely within Defendant’s possession, custody, or control and
are not presently available to Plaintiff. Accordingly, Plaintiff cannot plead the
extent of these additional violations without the benefit of discovery.

57. By failing to disclose the use of foreign ingredients and components,
Defendant has unfairly and deceptively misrepresented the Class Products as being
of purely of U.S. origin.

58. Defendant possesses superior knowledge of the true facts, which were not
disclosed, thereby tolling the applicable statute of limitations.

59. Most consumers have limited awareness that products—along with their
ingredients and components—Ilabeled as made in the United States may, in fact,
contain ingredients or components sourced, grown, or manufactured in foreign
countries. This is a material factor in many purchasing decisions, as consumers
believe they are buying superior goods while supporting American companies and
jobs.

60. American consumers generally perceive products, ingredients, and
components of U.S. origin as being of higher quality than their foreign counterparts.
61. On information and belief, Defendant either charged a premium for the Class

Products compared to its competitors or gained a competitive advantage by having
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the Class Products chosen over others based on false, unqualified “Made in the
USA” claims. Federal rules and California laws are designed to protect consumers
from such false representations and predatory conduct.

FACTS SPECIFIC TO PLAINTIFF STEVEN LAVALLEE
62. On September 4, 2022, Plaintiff purchased Dermalogica’s Clear Start Post
Breakout Fix for $22.00 excluding sales tax from an Ulta Beauty physical retail
location in Costa Mesa, California.
63.  Plaintiff also purchased Dermalogica’s Active Clay Cleanser (5.1 ounce) for
$42.00 excluding sales tax on June 17, 2023 from that same physical retail location.
64. A few months later, on September 27, 2023, Plaintiff purchased
Dermalogica’s Daily Glycolic Cleanser (5.1 ounce) for $37.00 excluding sales tax
and Special Cleansing Gel (1.7 ounce) for $13.00 excluding sales tax, again from
that same Ulta Beauty retail store in Costa Mesa, California.
65. On January 8, 2024, Plaintiff again purchased Dermalogica’s Glycolic
Cleanser (5.1 ounce) for $37.00 excluding sales tax and Dermalogica’s Intensive
Moisture Balance (0.4 ounce) for $17.50 excluding sales tax from the Ulta Beauty
retail store in Costa Mesa, California.
66. Finally, on June 8, 2024, Plaintiff purchased Dermalogica’s Special
Cleansing Gel (8.4 ounce) from the same Ulta Beauty store in Costa Mesa,
California for approximately $44.00, excluding tax.
67. Prior to purchasing each of the aforementioned Products, Plaintiff read the
representation on the Products’ packaging and/or label that the Products were
“Made in the USA” without any qualification of the foreign ingredients and
components contained therein.
68. Relying on the unqualified “Made in the USA” representations on the
Products, as any reasonable consumer would, and seeking to purchase a product
made in the United States with U.S. ingredients—especially since it is a personal

care product—Plaintiff purchased the Products for his personal use.
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69. Plaintiff’s reliance on Defendant’s unqualified “Made in the USA”
representation was reasonable, as consumers are accustomed to seeing disclosures
like “Made in the USA with globally sourced ingredients” or similar qualified
variations on product packaging—if and when such U.S. origin claims are made.
70.  When consumers encounter an unqualified “Made in the USA” or similar
claim, they reasonably assume the product contains no foreign-sourced ingredients
or components.

71. Defendant’s representations regarding the Class Products were unfair,
deceptive, and misleading, as the Class Products were actually made with and/or
contained ingredients or components sourced, grown, or manufactured outside the
United States.

72.  Accordingly, Defendant is not entitled to lawfully make unqualified
representations that the Class Products were “Made in the USA.”

73.  Such unqualified representations that the Products were made in the USA
were material to Plaintiff’s decision to purchase each Product.

74. Indeed, in deciding to purchase the Products, Plaintiff relied on the labeling,
packaging, marketing, and/or advertising prepared and approved by Defendant and
its agents, as disseminated through the Class Products’ packaging and labels
containing the misrepresentations alleged herein.

75. Had the Plaintiff known that the Products, the Class Products, and their
ingredients were not actually of U.S. origin, he would not have purchased the
Products.

76.  In other words, Plaintiff would not have purchased the Products but for the
unqualified “Made in the USA” claim on the Products’ packaging and labels.

77.  As aresult, Plaintiff was harmed because Defendant took Plaintiff’s money
due to its false, unqualified, unfair, and deceptive “Made in the USA”
representations on the Products.

78.  Each time Plaintiff and putative Class members purchased a Class Product,
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they relied on Defendant’s unqualified U.S. origin representations in their
purchasing decisions, as is typical of most U.S. consumers.

79.  Consequently, Plaintiff and other similarly situated consumers were deceived
by Defendant’s actions.

80.  Plaintiff believed, at the time of purchase, that the Products were of superior
quality and that he was supporting U.S. jobs, the U.S. economy, the environment,
and ethical working conditions by purchasing a product made with U.S.-sourced
ingredients, rather than ingredients sourced, grown, or made outside the United
States.

81. Ingredients and components grown or manufactured in the USA are subject
to strict regulatory requirements, including, but not limited to, agricultural,
environmental, labor, safety, ethical, and quality standards.

82.  Foreign sourced, grown, or manufactured ingredients and components are not
subject to the same U.S. standards and may pose greater risks to consumers, the
environment, and the U.S. economy. This concern is especially significant for
products intended for topical use, such as personal care products.

83.  Additionally, foreign-sourced, grown, or manufactured ingredients and
components are generally of lower quality and less reliable than their U.S. origin
counterparts.

84. False, unqualified, unfair and deceptive representation that products are
“Made in the USA” reduces overall customer satisfaction compared to if such
products were genuinely made in the U.S. using ingredients and components
sourced, grown, or made domestically.

85. Upon information and belief, the Class Products, including the Products
purchased by Plaintiff, contain foreign ingredients and are not worth the purchase
price paid by Plaintiff and putative Class members.

86.  The precise amount of damages will be proven at the time of trial.

87. Plaintiff and Class members were harmed as a result of Defendant’s false,
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unqualified, unfair and deceptive “Made in the USA™ representations alleged
herein.
88. This false, unfair, and deceptive advertising of the Class Products by
Defendant presents an ongoing threat to consumers, as Defendant’s conduct
continues to this day.

CLASS ALLEGATIONS
89.  Plamtiff brings this action on behalf of Plaintiff and all others similarly
situated.
90. Plaintiff is a member of and seeks to represent a Class, pursuant Federal Rules

of Civil Procedure, Rule 23(a), 23(b)(2) and 23(b)(3) defined as:

All persons in California who purchased one or more of
the Class Products marketed or labeled as “Made in the
USA” or any derivative thereof on the product or in its
marketing, and that were made with or contained
ingredients or components not grown or manufactured in
the United States, within four years prior to the filing of
this Complaint.

91. Excluded from the Class are Defendant’s officers, directors, and employees;
any entity in which Defendant have a controlling interest; and the affiliates, legal
representatives, attorneys, successors, heirs, and assigns of Defendant. Further
excluded from the Class are members of the judiciary to whom this case is assigned,
their families, and members of their staff.

92.  Plaintiff reserves the right to modify the proposed Class definition, including
but not limited to expanding the Class to protect additional individuals and to assert
additional sub-classes as warranted by additional investigation.

93.  Numerosity: The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all of
them is impracticable. While the exact number of members of the Class is unknown
to Plaintiff at this time, based on information and belief, the Class consists of

thousands of individuals within California.
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94. Commonality: There are questions of law and fact common to the Class,

which predominate over any questions affecting only individual members of the

Class. These common questions of law and fact include, without limitation:

o The nature, scope, and operations of the wrongful practices of
Defendant;
o Whether Class Products are or have been represented as being of

U.S. origin without clear and adequate qualification;
o Whether Defendant negligently or intentionally misrepresented
or omitted the fact that the Class Products, including the Products
purchased by the Plaintiff, were sold illegally in California;
o Whether Defendant knew or should have known that its business
practices were unfair and/or unlawful;
° Whether Defendant’s conduct violated the CLRA;
° Whether Defendant’s conduct violated the FAL;
o Whether Defendant’s conduct was “unlawful” as that term is
defined in the UCL;
o Whether Defendant’s conduct was “unfair” as that term is
defined in the UCL;
o Whether Defendant was unjustly enriched by its unlawful, unfair
and deceptive business practices;
o Whether Plaintiff and members of the Class suffered monetary
damages as a result of Defendant’s conduct and, if so, the appropriate
amount of damages; and
o Whether Plaintiff and members of the Class are entitled to
injunctive relief, including public injunctive relief.
95. Typicality: Plaintiff’s claims are typical of those of the Class. Plaintiff and
all members of the Class have been injured by the same wrongful practices of

Defendant. Plaintiff’s claims arise from the same course of conduct that gave rise
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to the claims of the Class and are based on the same legal theories in that Plaintiff
purchased one or more Class Products from Defendant that was labeled as being
“Made in the USA,” or any derivative thereof, without clear and adequate
qualification.

96. Adequacy of Representation: Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent

and protect the interests of members of the Class. Plaintiff’s Counsel are competent
and experienced in litigating consumer class actions. Plaintiff has retained counsel
experienced in consumer protection law, including complex class action litigation
involving unfair business practices. Plaintiff has no adverse or antagonistic interests
to those of the Class and will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class.
Plaintiff’s attorneys are aware of no interests adverse or antagonistic to those of
Plaintiff and the proposed Class.

97. Predominance: Defendant has engaged in a common course of conduct

toward Plaintiff and members of the Class, in that Plaintiff and members of the
Class were induced to purchase the Class Products. The common issues arising from
Defendant’s conduct affecting members of the Class set out above predominate over
any individual issues. Adjudication of these common issues in a single action has
important and desirable advantages of judicial economy.

98.  Superiority: A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair
and efficient adjudication of the controversy. Class treatment of common questions
of law and fact is superior to multiple individual actions or piecemeal litigation.
Absent a class action, most members of the Class would likely find that the cost of
litigating their individual claims is prohibitively high and would therefore have no
effective remedy. The prosecution of separate actions by individual members of the
Class would create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications with respect to
individual members of the Class, which would establish incompatible standards of
conduct for Defendant. In contrast, the conduct of this action as a class action

presents far fewer management difficulties, conserves judicial resources and the
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parties’ resources, and protects the rights of each Class Member.

99.  Unless the Class 1s certified, Defendant will retain monies received as a result
of Defendant’s unlawful, unfair and deceptive conduct alleged herein. Unless a
class-wide injunction is issued, Defendant will also likely continue to advertise,
market, label, promote and package the Class Products in an unlawful, unfair,
deceptive and misleading manner, and members of the Class will continue to be
deceived, misled, harmed, and denied their rights under California law.

100. Defendant has acted on grounds that apply generally to the Class, so that

Class certification is appropriate.

CAUSES OF ACTION

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
Violations of the Consumer Legal Remedies Act (“CLRA”)
(Cal. Civ. Code § 1750, et seq.)

101. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs of

this Complaint as though fully set forth herein, and further alleges as follows:

102. California Civil Code Section 1750, et seq., entitled the Consumer Legal
Remedies Act (“CLRA”), provides a list of “unfair or deceptive” practices in a
“transaction” relating to the sale of “goods” or “services” to a “consumer.”

103. The Legislature’s intent in promulgating the CLRA is expressed in Civil

Code Section 1760, which provides, inter alia, that its terms are to be:

Construed liberally and applied to promote its underlying
purposes, which are to protect consumers against unfair
and deceptive business practices and to provide efficient
and economical procedures to secure such protections.

104. Defendant’s actions, representations, and conduct have violated, and
continue to violate the CLRA because they extend to transactions that intended to

result, or which have resulted in the sale of products to consumers.
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105. Plaintiff and the Class Members are not sophisticated experts with
independent knowledge of ingredient sourcing, product labeling and marketing
practices.

106. Plaintiff and Class Members are California consumers who purchased Class

Products for personal, family or household purposes.

107. Defendant is a “person” as defined by Cal. Civ. Code § 1761(c).

108. The Class Products that Plaintiff and other Class Members purchased from
Defendant constitute “goods” as defined pursuant to Civil Code Section 1761(a).
109. Plaintiff, and the Class members, are each a “consumer” as defined pursuant
to Civil Code Section 1761(d).

110. Each of Plaintiff’s and the Class members’ purchases of Defendant’s
products constituted a “transaction” as defined pursuant to Civil Code Section
1761(e).

111. Civil Code Section 1770(a)(2), (4), (5), (7) and (9) of the CLRA provide
that:

The following unfair methods of competition and unfair or
deceptive acts or practices undertaken by any person in a
transaction intended to result or which results in the sale
or lease of goods or services to any consumer are
unlawful: ...

(2) [m]isrepresenting the source, sponsorship, approval, or
certification of goods or services; ...

(4) [u]sing deceptive representations or designations of
geographic origin in connection with goods or services;
(5) [r]epresenting that goods or services have sponsorship,
approval, characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits, or
quantities which they do not have or that a person has a
sponsorship, approval, status, affiliation, or connection
which he or she does not have; ...

(7) [r]epresenting that goods or services are of a particular
standard, quality, or grade...; [and]

(9) [a]dvertising goods or services with intent not to sell
them as advertised.
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112. Defendant failed to comply with Civil Code Section 1770(a)(2), (4), (5), (7)
and (9) by marketing and representing that its Class Products are “Made in the
USA,” without qualification, when in fact they actually contain foreign sourced,
grown or made ingredients and/or components.

113. Plaintiff further alleges that the Defendant committed these acts with full
awareness of the harm it would cause and engaged in such unfair and deceptive
conduct despite this knowledge.

114. Defendant knew or should have known that its representations about the
Class Products, as described herein, violated federal regulations and state laws,
including consumer protection laws, and that these statements would be relied upon
by the Plaintiff and Class members.

115. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s violations of Cal. Civ. Code
§§ 1750, et seq., Plaintiff and each Class member have suffered harm by paying
money to Defendant for the Class Products, which they would not have purchased
had they known the products were unlawfully, unfairly, and deceptively labeled and
contained foreign ingredients.

116. Plaintiff and the Class suffered monetary harm caused by Defendant because
(a) they would not have purchased the Class Products on the same terms absent
Defendant’s unlawful, unfair and deceptive conduct as set forth herein; (b) they paid
a price premium for the Class Products or chose them over competing products due
to Defendant’s misrepresentations and deceptive packaging, which falsely claimed
the products were “Made in the USA,” without qualification; and (c) the Class
Products contained foreign ingredients that were not properly disclosed.

117. Plaintiff was therefore harmed because Plaintiff’s money was taken by
Defendant as a result of Defendant’s false and unqualified “Made in the USA”
representation set forth on the labels of the Class Products.

118. Plaintiff and Class members reasonably relied upon Defendant’s

representations regarding the Class Products, and Plaintiff and the Class reasonably
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expected that the Class Products would not be unlawfully labeled in a unfair,
deceptive and misleading manner.

119. Thus, Plaintiff and the Class reasonably relied to their detriment on
Defendant’s unfair, deceptive and misleading representations.

120. Pursuant to California Civil Code § 1782(a), on or about June 27, 2024,
Plaintiff sent Defendant a notice and demand for corrective action (the “CLRA
Demand”) via certified mail, informing Defendant of its violations of the CLRA
and demanding that it cease and desist from such violations, as well as make full
restitution by refunding all monies received in connection therewith.

121. The CLRA Demand was received by Defendant’s California Registered
Agent for Service of Process on July 1, 2024.

122. On May 13, 2025, Plaintiff sent Defendant a second CLRA Demand via
certified mail.

123. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s violations of the CLRA,
Plaintiff and members of the Class are entitled to a declaration that Defendant
violated the CLRA.

124. Under Cal. Civ. Code § 1780(a), Plaintiff and the putative Class are entitled
to, and hereby seek, injunctive relief to prohibit such conduct in the future.

125. Attached hereto as Exhibit B is a sworn declaration from Plaintiff pursuant
to Cal. Civ. Code § 1780(d).

126. Pursuant to Cal. Civ. Code § 1782(d), Plaintiff reserves the right to amened

the Complaint to seek damages.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
Violations of California’s Unfair Competition Law (“UCL”)
(Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200, ef seq.)

127. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs of

this Complaint as though fully set forth herein, and further alleges as follows:
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128. Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the Class for
Defendant’s violations of California’s Unfair Competition Law, Cal. Bus. & Prof.
Code §§ 17200, et seq.
129. Plaintiff and Defendant are each “person[s]” as defined by California
Business & Professions Code § 17201.
130. California Business & Professions Code § 17204 authorizes a private right of
action on both an individual and representative basis.
131. “Unfair competition” is defined by Business and Professions Code Section §
17200 as encompassing several types of business “wrongs,” four of which are at
issue here: (1) an “unlawful” business act or practice, (2) an “unfair” business act
or practice, (3) a “fraudulent” business act or practice, and (4) “unfair, deceptive,
untrue or misleading advertising.”
132. The definitions in § 17200 are drafted in the disjunctive, meaning that each
of these “wrongs” operates independently from the others.
133. Through the conduct alleged in detail above and herein, Defendant engaged
in unlawful, unfair, deceptive and/or fraudulent business practices in violation of
Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200, et seq.

A. “Unlawful” Prong
134. Defendant has committed acts of unfair competition, including those
described above, by engaging in a pattern of “unlawful” business practices, within
the meaning of Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 ef segq.
135. Defendant is alleged to have violated California law because the Class
Products are advertised and labeled as “Made in the USA,” without qualification,
when in fact they contain foreign ingredients.
136. Specifically, by manufacturing, distributing, and/or marketing the Class
Products with false, unfair and deceptive unqualified “Made in the USA” claims,
Defendant violates California’s CLRA, Civil Code § 1750, et seq.; California’s
Made in the USA Statute, Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17533.7; and/or the federal Made
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in USA Labeling Rule, 16 C.F.R. Part 323. Defendant falsely, unfairly and
deceptively represents that the Class Products are “Made in the USA” without clear
and adequate qualification, despite containing ingredients and/or components that
are sourced, grown, or manufactured in foreign countries.
137. Defendant has other reasonably available alternatives to further its business
interests, aside from the unlawful conduct described herein, such as truthfully
labeling the Class Products with clear and adequate qualifications of the foreign
ingredients and components used therein.
138. Instead, Defendant deliberately and deceptively misled consumers through
unlawful and unfair practices for its own economic gain.
139. Plaintiff and Class members reserve the right to allege additional violations
of law that constitute unlawful business practices or acts, as such conduct is ongoing
and continues to this day.

B. “Unfair” Prong
140. Defendant has engaged in acts of unfair competition prohibited by Bus. &
Prof. Code § 17200, et seq.
141. The Defendant engaged in a pattern of unfair business practices that violate
both the letter and intent of the rules, regulations, and laws governing “Made in
USA” claims. Specifically, it employed conduct and practices that either threaten
or directly violate these laws by manufacturing, distributing, and/or marketing the
Class Products with unqualified, unfair, and deceptive “Made in the USA” claims.
These actions constitute violations of the CLRA and both federal and state “Made
in USA” statutes.
142. Additionally, Defendant engaged in a pattern of unfair business practices that
violate the wording and intent of the aforementioned statutes. These practices,
which are immoral, unethical, and unscrupulous, have caused harm to consumers
and run counter to public policy. The utility of such conduct, if any, is far

outweighed by the damage it causes, particularly through the manufacturing,
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distribution, and/or marketing of the Class Products with unqualified, unfair, and
deceptive “Made in the USA” claims.
143. Defendant’s conduct includes, but is not limited to, manufacturing,
distributing, marketing, and/or advertising the Class Products with unqualified,
unfair, and deceptive U.S. origin claims. As a result: (1) the injury to consumers
was substantial; (2) the injury was not outweighed by any countervailing benefits
to consumers or competition; and (3) the injury was one that consumers could not
have reasonably avoided.
144. Without limitation, Defendant’s knowing mislabeling of the Class Products
constitutes an unfair and deceptive business practice, misleading consumers into
believing they are purchasing products made in the United States without foreign
ingredients. As a result, Plaintiff could not have reasonably avoided the injury
caused.
145. Plaintiff reserves the right to allege additional conduct that constitutes further
unfair business acts or practices.

C. “Fraudulent” Prong
146. Defendant violated the “fraudulent” prong of the UCL by misleading Plaintiff
and the Class to believe that the Class Products and/or all its ingredients were made
in the United States.
147. Particularly, the Class Products, including the Products Plaintiff purchased
from an Ulta physical retail location in Costa Mesa, California, state on their
packaging and labels that they are “Made in the USA” without any qualification,
even though many of the ingredients in the Class Products, including the Products
Plaintiff purchased, do not originate from the United States.
148. Relying on the unqualified “Made in the USA” language found on the
Product’s label, Plaintiff purchased the Products.
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149. Like Plaintiff, Class members purchased the Class Products in reliance on the
unqualified “Made in the USA” or similar language found on the Class Products’
labels.
150. Plaintiff and the Class are not sophisticated experts in ingredient sourcing,
product labeling, or marketing practices of the Class Products. They acted
reasonably in purchasing the Class Products based on their belief that Defendant’s
unqualified representations were truthful and lawful.
151. Plaintiff reserves the right to allege additional conduct that constitutes further
fraudulent business acts or practices.

D. “Unfair, Deceptive, Untrue or Misleading Advertising” Prong
152. Defendant’s advertising is unfair, deceptive, untrue and/or misleading in that
consumers are led to believe that Defendant’s Class Products are “Made in the
USA” when Defendant’s Class Products are in fact made with or contain
ingredients and components that are not manufactured in the United States.
153. Plaintiff, reasonable consumers, and the public would likely be, and, in fact
were, deceived and misled by Defendant’s representations and advertising as they
would, and did, interpret the representation in accord with its ordinary usage, that
the Class Products are actually manufactured in the United States with ingredients
and components from the United States given the absence of clear and adequate
qualification of Defendant’s “Made in the USA” representations.
154. Additionally, Defendant’s advertising is unfair, deceptive, and misleading, as
it leads consumers to believe that the Class Products are “Made in the USA,”
without clear and adequate qualification, despite containing foreign-sourced,
grown, or manufactured ingredients and/or components.
155. Plaintiff, as a reasonable consumer, and the public would likely be, and in
fact were, deceived and misled by Defendant’s labeling and marketing. They would,

and did, interpret Defendant’s unqualified representations according to their
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ordinary meaning—that the products are made in the USA without foreign
ingredients or components.

156. Plaintiff reserves the right to allege additional conduct that constitutes further
unfair, deceptive, untrue or misleading advertising.

157. Plaintiff and the Class lost money or property as a result of Defendant’s UCL
violations because, at a minimum: (a) they would not have purchased the Class
Products on the same terms had they known the true facts about Defendant’s
representations; (b) they paid a price premium for the Class Products due to
Defendant’s alleged misrepresentations; and (c) the Class Products were not made
in the USA with U.S.-sourced ingredients and components as represented.

158. Defendant’s alleged unlawful, unfair, and deceptive business practices, along
with their unfair, deceptive, untrue, or misleading advertising, present a continuing
threat to Plaintiff, the Class, and the public as Defendant continues to engage in
unlawful conduct that harms consumers.

159. Such acts and omissions by Defendant are unlawful, unfair, and/or deceptive,
constituting violations of Business & Professions Code §§ 17200, et seq. Plaintiff
reserves the right to identify additional violations by Defendant as may be
uncovered through discovery.

160. As a direct and proximate result of the acts and representations described
above, Defendant has received and continues to receive unearned commercial
benefits at the expense of its competitors and the public.

161. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s unlawful, unfair, and
fraudulent conduct described herein, Defendant has been, and will continue to be,
enriched by ill-gotten gains from customers, including Plaintiff, who unwittingly
provided money based on Defendant’s false and unqualified representations.

162. Plaintiff was harmed because Defendant took Plaintiff’s money through
unqualified, unfair, and deceptive representations made regarding the Class

Products.
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163. The conduct of Defendant, as described above, demonstrates the need for
injunctive relief to restrain such acts of unfair competition pursuant to the California
Business and Professions Code. Unless enjoined by the court, Defendant will retain
the ability to, and may, continue engaging in unfair and deceptive competition and
misleading marketing. As a result, Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to both
injunctive and monetary relief.

164. Plaintiff wants to purchase the Class Products again but cannot be certain that
he would be misled again in the future unless and until Defendant makes appropriate
changes to its Class Products’ labeling and marketing as is requested herein.

165. Pursuant to Bus. and Prof. Code § 17203, Plaintiff and the proposed Class
are entitled to, and hereby seek, injunctive relief to prevent Defendant from
continuing the conduct in question. Additionally, Plaintiff seeks public injunctive
relief regarding Defendant’s marketing and sale of products represented as “Made
in the USA” without clear and proper qualification.

166. In prosecuting this action to enforce important rights affecting the public
interest, Plaintiff seeks the recovery of attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to, inter

alia, Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 1021.5.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
Violations of California’s False Advertising Law (“FAL”)
(Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17500, et seq.)

167. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs of

this Complaint as though fully set forth herein and further alleges as follows:

168. California’s False Advertising Law (“FAL”), Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §
17500, states that “[1]t is unlawful for any ... corporation ... with intent ... to dispose
of ... personal property ... to induce the public to enter into any obligation relating
thereto, to make or disseminate or cause to be made or disseminated ... from this
state before the public in any state, in any newspaper or other publication, or any

advertising device, or by public outcry or proclamation, or in any other manner or
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means whatever, including over the Internet, any statement...which is untrue or
misleading and which is known, or which by the exercise of reasonable care should
be known, to be untrue or misleading....”

169. Defendant’s material misrepresentations and omissions alleged herein violate
Bus. & Prof. Code § 17500, et seq. Defendant knew, or should have known, that its
misrepresentations and omissions were false, unfair, deceptive, and misleading,
including the unqualified representation that the Class Products were made in the
United States without foreign-grown, sourced, or manufactured ingredients and
components.

170. Plaintiff and the Class suffered tangible, concrete injuries as a result of
Defendant’s actions, as set forth herein, because they purchased the Class Products
in reliance on Defendant’s unqualified representations that the products were made
in the United States with domestic ingredients and components.

171. As a result, pursuant to Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17535, Plaintiff and
members of the Class are entitled to injunctive relief, equitable relief, and
restitution.

172. Further, Plaintiff and the members of the Class seek an order requiring
Defendant to disclose the misrepresentations and request an order awarding
Plaintiff restitution for the money wrongfully acquired by Defendant through those
misrepresentations.

173. Additionally, Plaintiff seeks an order requiring Defendant to pay attorneys'
fees pursuant to, inter alia, Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 1021.5.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Breach of Express Warranty

174. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs of

this Complaint as though fully set forth herein and further alleges as follows:
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175. Defendant represented to Plaintiff and similarly situated individuals, through
product packaging and labeling, that the Class Products were “Made in the USA”
without any qualification.

176. Defendant’s representations regarding the Class Products’ unqualified U.S.
origin constitute affirmations of fact.

177. Defendant’s explicit claim that the Class Products are “Made in the USA”
pertains directly to the nature and composition of the products, forming a
fundamental part of the bargain between Defendant and purchasers.

178. Defendant’s statements—featured prominently on the Class Products’ labels
and packaging—constitute an express warranty regarding the products’ U.S. origin,
including their ingredients.

179. Relying on these express warranties, Plaintiff and Class members purchased
the Class Products, believing they were entirely manufactured in the United States
with ingredients and components sourced from the United States.

180. Defendant breached its express warranties because the Class Products
contained foreign-sourced ingredients and components, which were not disclosed
with any qualification, contradicting Defendant’s representations of an unqualified
U.S. origin.

181. Asaresult of Defendant’s breach, Plaintiff and Class members suffered harm
and are entitled to recover either the full purchase price of the Class Products or the
difference between their actual value and the value they would have held if entirely
made in the United States with domestic ingredients and components.

182. Plaintiff and Class members did not receive the benefit of their bargain and
sustained additional injuries as alleged herein.

183. Had Plaintiff and Class members known that the Class Products were not
genuinely “Made in the USA” with domestic ingredients and components, they
either would not have purchased the products or would not have paid the price

Defendant charged.
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184. Defendant’s misrepresentation was a substantial factor in causing Plaintiff

and the Class economic harm.

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Unjust Enrichment

185. Plaintiff pleads this unjust enrichment cause of action in the alternative to
contract-based claims.

186. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs of
this Complaint as though fully set forth herein, and further alleges as follows:

187. Under California law, the elements of unjust enrichment are the receipt of a
benefit and the unjust retention of that benefit at the expense of another.

188. Plaintiff and members of the Class conferred non-gratuitous benefits upon
Defendant by purchasing the Class Products, which Defendant represented as made
in the USA, without any qualification regarding the foreign ingredients contained
therein.

189. Plaintiff and members of the Class allege that Defendant owes them money
for the unjust conduct described herein that resulted in the wrongful acquisition of
funds.

190. An undue advantage was taken of Plaintiff’s and the Class’s lack of
knowledge of the deception, resulting in money being extracted to which Defendant
had no legal right.

191. Defendant is therefore indebted to Plaintiff and members of the Class in a
specific sum—the amount of money each paid for the Class Products, which
Defendant should not retain in equity and good conscience.

192. Defendant is therefore liable to Plaintiff and members of the Class for the
amount of unjust enrichment.

193. Defendant’s retention of any benefit, whether directly or indirectly collected
from Plaintiff and members of the Class, violates principles of justice, equity, and

good conscience.
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194. As aresult, Defendant has been and continues to be unjustly enriched.

195. Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to recover from Defendant all amounts that
Defendant has wrongfully and improperly obtained, and Defendant should be
required to disgorge to Plaintiff and members of the Class the benefits is has
unjustly received.

196. Defendant accepted and retained such benefits with knowledge that Plaintiff's
and members of the Class’s rights were being violated for financial gain. Defendant
has been unjustly enriched by retaining the revenues and profits obtained from
Plaintiff and members of the Class, and such retention under these circumstances is
both unjust and inequitable.

197. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s unlawful practices and the
retention of monies paid by Plaintiff and members of the Class, Plaintiff and the
Class have suffered concrete harm and injury.

198. Defendant’s retention of the non-gratuitous benefits conferred upon it by
Plaintiff and members of the Class would be unjust and inequitable.

199. Plaintiff and members of the Class are entitled to seek disgorgement and
restitution of wrongful profits, revenue, and benefits conferred upon Defendant, in

a manner to be determined by this Court.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Negligent Misrepresentation

200. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs of
this Complaint as though fully set forth herein, and further alleges as follows:

201. Defendant has represented to the public, including Plaintiff and the Class,
through its marketing, advertising, labeling, and other means, that the Class
Products are “Made in the USA” without any qualification. This is misleading, as a
substantial portion of the ingredients used in the Class Products are sourced from

outside the United States.
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202. Plaintiff alleges that Defendant made these negligent, unqualified
representations with the intent to induce the public, including Plaintiff and the
putative Class members, to purchase the Class Products.

203. Plaintiff and other similarly situated persons saw, believed, and relied upon
Defendant’s negligent, unqualified “Made in the USA” representations, and
purchased the Class Products based on that reliance.

204. At all relevant times, Defendant made the negligent, unqualified
representations alleged herein, knowing or reasonably should have known, that such
representations were unfair, deceptive, inaccurate, and misleading.

205. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s negligent, unqualified
misrepresentations, Plaintiff and similarly situated consumers were induced to
purchase the Class Products, purchase more of them, pay a higher price, or choose
them over competitors’ products. These unlawful, unfair, and deceptive acts caused

damages in an amount to be determined at trial for the Class Period.

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Intentional Misrepresentation

206. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs of
this Complaint as though fully set forth herein, and further alleges as follows:

207. From an unknown date until the filing of this Complaint, Defendant
knowingly represented to Plaintiff and others similarly situated, through product
labeling and packaging, that the Class Products were “Made in the USA” without
qualification of foreign ingredients.

208. Defendant acted intentionally by willfully and purposefully printing
inaccurate and unqualified marketing statements on the labels of the Class Products.
209. However, as described above, the unqualified “Made in the USA”

representations are unfair, deceptive, false, and misleading.
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210. Defendant knew these representations were false and, over a period of years,
continued to label the Class Products as “Made in the USA” without qualifying the
presence of foreign ingredients.

211. Defendant further knew that retailers were marketing the Class Products in
false or misleading ways, as Defendant designed, manufactured, and affixed the
product labeling to the Class Products before supplying them to the retailers.

212. Plaintiff and the putative Class members saw, believed, and relied on
Defendant’s misrepresentations when deciding to purchase the Class Products.
213. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s intentional
misrepresentations, Plaintiff and the putative Class members suffered damages in
an amount to be determined at trial.

214. By engaging in the acts described above, Plaintiff and the putative Class are

entitled to recover exemplary or punitive damages.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief and judgment against Defendant as
follows, seeking equitable relief in the alternative to legal relief:

e Certification of this action as a class action;

e Appointment of Plaintiff as Class Representative;

e Appointment of Plaintiff’s attorneys as Class Counsel;

e That Defendant’s wrongful conduct alleged herein be adjudged and decreed
to violate the consumer protection statutes asserted herein;

e An Order declaring that Defendant’s conduct violated the CLRA, California
Civil Code §§ 1750, ef seq., and awarding injunctive relief pursuant to Cal.
Civ. Code § 1780(a) and (b);

e An Order declaring that Defendant’s conduct violated California’s Unfair
Competition Law, California Business & Professions Code §§ 17200, ef seq.;

and awarding injunctive relief pursuant to Bus. & Prof. Code § 17203;
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e An Order requiring Defendant to disgorge all monies, revenues, and profits
obtained by means of any wrongful act or practice;

e An Order requiring the imposition of a constructive trust and/or disgorgement
of Defendant’s ill-gotten gains, compelling Defendant to pay restitution to
Plaintiff and all members of the Class, and to restore to Plaintiff and Class
members all funds acquired through any act or practice declared by this Court
to be unlawful, fraudulent, unfair, or deceptive; in violation of laws, statutes,
or regulations; or constituting unfair competition, along with pre- and post-
judgment interest thereon;

e For pre and post-judgment interest on all amounts awarded,;

e For an order of restitution and all other forms of equitable monetary relief, as
pleaded, including awarding such relief pursuant to Bus. & Prof. Code §
17535 and/or Bus. & Prof. Code § 17203;

e For public injunctive relief as pleaded or as the Court may deem proper;

e That Defendant be enjoined from continuing the wrongful conduct alleged
herein and required to comply with all applicable laws;

e Punitive damages including under Cal. Civ. Code § 3294;

e General and compensatory damages in an amount to be determined at trial;

e That Plaintiff and each of the other members of the Class recover their costs
of suit, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses pursuant to, inter
alia, California Code of Civil Procedure § 1021.5; and

e That Plaintiff and the members of the Class be granted any other relief the

Court may deem just and proper.

DEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY
215. Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, hereby

demands a jury trial on all claims so triable.
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Dated: May 13, 2025 Respectfully submitted,

KAZEROUNI LAW GROUP, APC

By: _/s/ Abbas Kazerounian
Abbas Kazerounian, Esq.
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF
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